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ALBANY WAVE ENERGY PROJECT — CARNEGIE CLEAN ENERGY 
Statement 

HON PETER COLLIER (North Metropolitan — Leader of the Opposition) [9.45 pm]: I would like to make 
some further comments on Carnegie. I thought that this train wreck had reached its port but, unfortunately, it has 
not. It has just got worse. Yet again, the Minister for Regional Development is directly involved. This thing was 
a catastrophe from day one. The situation is that Carnegie was, without a shadow of a doubt, the minister’s 
preferred candidate. She had a very evident perceived conflict of interest. I have been through that on numerous 
occasions so I will not go through that again. However, none of the other companies had an opportunity to have 
a go at this thing. They met the criteria for the contract, but they were never considered—even after Carnegie went 
pear-shaped. I will go through a couple of questions that I have asked. 
On Tuesday, 19 February, the question was asked about how many companies applied. There were five. How 
many companies met the criteria? Four companies met the criteria and one did not. Four companies out of five 
met the criteria. I mentioned this last week. One of them was Carnegie, and Carnegie got the contract. That is fine. 
The government had a threshold level that companies needed to reach to meet the criteria for a contract. Members 
should remember that four out of the five companies met that criteria. One company got the contract, and that was 
Carnegie. Almost immediately after, everything went pear-shaped. I will get back to the finances in a moment, 
because if the minister and her advisers did not know that Carnegie was going under, they would have been the 
only people, quite frankly, in the whole of Australia who did not know that Carnegie had financial issues. Carnegie 
finally went under. It was a long process from then to now, which I have been through on a number of occasions. 
That is fine. If the government is so committed to wave energy, why does it not give the project to one of the other 
three companies? Surely, if those companies have met the criteria that were established, why does the government 
not give it to one of them? In question without notice 145, I asked the minister — 

Given that four of the five proponents of the project met the tender requirements, why has the government 
abandoned this project after the Carnegie decision and not offered it to one of the other conforming 
proponents? 

The minister said — 
We certainly did consider a number of alternatives but it was our view, on the advice that we received, 
that the quality of the applications of the other tenderers was not up to the standard of Carnegie. 

Those companies were being judged on Carnegie standards, not according to criteria set by an apolitical group; it 
is the standard of Carnegie. She continued — 

The Carnegie project had struggled, so we determined at this time to cease that project. It does not mean 
that at some future stage we might not be able to reconsider, but at this particular time we felt that it was 
not likely that we would achieve a positive outcome from approaching the other tenderers that had been 
unsuccessful. 

Why on earth have criteria and say that companies have met the criteria, but because they are not Carnegie, they will 
not get the contract, even if Carnegie goes under? It is like having a qualifying time for athletics for the 100 metres. 
Some runners meet the qualifying time. Bert wins, so he gets chosen to represent Australia. But he does his hammy 
and cannot run, so none of the other qualifiers can run. Why? Because Bert is the preferred candidate. That is 
exactly the situation we have here; Carnegie is the minister’s preferred candidate. Even though there are three 
other companies, they will not be considered. I then said to the minister that this was too cute by half. I asked her 
why Carnegie was chosen and why she met with Carnegie and none of the other proponents. She said — 

I had no meetings with any of the proponents during the tender process. It would not be appropriate for 
me to have meetings with them during the tender process. 

Absolutely, it would be. It was before the tender process. The minister was too cute by half. Five companies applied 
for that contract. We should make no bones about it. The minister met with one proponent. That one company was 
Carnegie, and Carnegie got the contract. I do not care what spin the minister put on it; she met with Carnegie. Not 
only did she met with Carnegie but she initiated the meeting. It did not ring and ask if it could meet the minister. 
She specifically asked to meet with Carnegie, and she does not have a perceived conflict of interest! These were 
the standards. 
Then I tried to find out why the guidelines were ignored. If three other companies were being considered after 
Carnegie went pear-shaped, why did the minister not say, “We’re really committed to this wave energy project; 
let’s give it to one of these other companies”? This was the minister’s response — 

It is one thing to satisfy the technical requirements of a tender; it is another to make an assessment that 
this is a model that would be viable. That was the advice that we got from the department both at the stage 
when the department advised that the recommendation was that Carnegie was the best application and 
subsequently when we were looking at what strategies might be available to us. The assessment of those 
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officers involved in assessing the tender was that they did not believe that the other applications were 
strong enough. 

Why do we have criteria? These same officers set the criteria. They said yes. Four reached that standard—that 
threshold level. Carnegie went pear-shaped and, all of a sudden, the other three are not there. Why bother doing 
that? Why did the minister get them to go through that entire tender process if she never had any intention of using 
any company but Carnegie for this contract? I tried to get information another way. I thought that was fair enough, 
if that is the minister’s standard. If Carnegie had withdrawn its application and not put in an application, would 
the project have gone ahead at all? If Carnegie had not gone pear-shaped and the others had met the criteria but 
were not considered good enough, would the project have gone ahead? The minister said — 

If there were no applications that we believe would be capable of delivering the project, I presume we 
would not have proceeded but this is a hypothetical situation. We went out to tender, we got applications 
in, we assessed them. We were recommended to select a particular tender. We were told that that tender 
was far stronger than the other tenders involved in the project and that was the advice. 

I do not care whether they were stronger than Carnegie. That has absolutely nothing to do with it. The minister 
can shake her head all she likes but she created this mess. What is the point of having criteria for a tender? She 
should have said to them at the outset, “These are the standards, but unless you’re Carnegie, you’re not going to 
get the job, so don’t bother.” 
Hon Alannah MacTiernan interjected. 
Hon PETER COLLIER: The minister does not get it. She is trying to defend the indefensible and she cannot. 
This is the new standard — 
Hon Alannah MacTiernan interjected. 
The PRESIDENT: Order! Minister, I am sure you will have an opportunity to have a say when this speaker has 
finished. 
Hon PETER COLLIER: This is the standard of the McGowan government. No, this is the MacTiernan standard. 
The government advertises a project. In this instance, it is Albany wave energy. The government calls for 
prospective proponents for this new contract, and it receives a number of submissions. Most proponents meet the 
criteria or the standards. The successful applicant happens to be the preferred contractor of the minister, who has 
a clear and evident perceived conflict of interest. The successful proponent goes into freefall and then the contract 
collapses. Why not go to the other proponents? That is all I have asked in the three or four questions I have asked the 
minister. According to the minister’s very own standards—the standards that the selectors established—three other 
companies met that criteria. I have not had a viable, logical explanation for that. The minister can get as frustrated 
as she likes, but she cannot answer that. The reason she cannot answer that is that she wanted Carnegie. She was 
at the announcement of the proponent down in Albany before the election. She was on the board of Energy Made 
Clean. She has a clear perceived conflict of interest. The same guy who appointed her — 
Hon Alannah MacTiernan interjected. 
The PRESIDENT: Order! Stop yelling across the chamber, please. 
Hon PETER COLLIER: The same man who appointed Hon Alannah MacTiernan was a director of Carnegie 
until a few months ago, and she does not think that is a perceived conflict of interest. That is absolutely disgraceful. 
That is what we have here. These questions need to be asked. This company has gone pear-shaped. This purported 
issue with the federal government R&D grants was absolute nonsense. I might suggest that the minister look at 
Carnegie’s own report, because she will be embarrassed. It was highlighting putting up the red flag months ago. 
At the same time that the government was giving it $2.6 million and extending its guidelines, Carnegie’s own 
board was putting up the red flag. Nothing I am saying here is unreasonable. We have clear evidence that the 
minister wanted Carnegie. According to the minister’s criteria, three other companies could have met the terms of 
that contract, but the minister did not consider them. If she was really committed to wave energy, why on earth 
did she not give that contract to one of those other three companies? 
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